1949

Lewis F. Hansen, W. V. Jensen, Mrs. J. E. Jensen,
Ralph Cutler, Hettie May Bates and Robert Young
v. Granite Holding Company, Nephi J. Hansen and
William L. Hansen : Brief of Defendant and
Appellant, William L. Hansen : Brief of Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

FOREWORD

We attempted to summarize the evidence into a more concise statement than follows in this brief. We abandoned the effort, however, because it was not possible to make a more brief summary and at the same time present clearly to this court the utter lack of support in the evidence for the findings of fact, conclusions of law and judgment herein. Our research has failed to disclose one single authority to support the trial court in this case, and a less complete summary of the evidence than we have given herein might lead this court to wonder if we had not omitted to state some of the evidence. Therefore, we concluded to attempt to state the substance of the evidence of every witness. We have also set forth as briefly as possible the substance of the pleadings and the court's findings, conclusions and judgment. We hope that this will give in the pages of this brief a complete picture of the record to each member of the court.

I. THE PLEADINGS AND THE PARTIES

The identity of the parties and the dates of the pleadings have a material place in this action. The action is one in equity and was commenced by Lewis F. Hansen and Clyde Hansen as plaintiff's against the defendants by a complaint filed December 21, 1946, and summons served December 23, 1946, (T. 1-9). The complaint in substance alleges that the plaintiffs are stockholders of the defendant corporation and "bring this action for and in behalf of said corporation" and for themselves and other stockholders who are interested and desire to join and share the costs; that the defendant, Nephi Hansen, since and prior to 1928 has presumed to act as the president and general manager and director of the corporation, and that since said time no legal or regular meetings of stockholders or directors of said corporation have been held and "no one has been legally authorized to manage or direct the affairs and business of said corporation, and the defendant, Nephi J. Hansen, has presumed to use the corporation and its property for his own interest and benefit"; that the corporation has failed to keep books and records; that the stock of the corporation is divided into 3500 shares of common and 3500 shares of preferred stock with cumulative dividends for the preferred stock; that in 1919 a new board of directors was established and that of this board all but three of the directors are dead, and that those three are the defendant, Nephi J. Hansen, and the plaintiffs, Clyde Hansen and Lewis F. Han-

sen, and that for a number of years last past there has been no legally constituted board of directors; that the corporation for many years has been the owner and entitled to the possession of certain property, describing it, (this property is situated at the southwest corner of 11th East and 21st South in Salt Lake City); that the said property has been producing substantial rental income but plaintiffs cannot state the amount, and on information and belief state that it is in excess of \$2500.00 per month; that plaintiffs have no knowledge as to the handling and disposition of the income but allege on information and belief that the corporation is insolvent or in danger of insolvency, and that the assets and property have been and are now being dissipated, and the corporation is unable to pay its obligations or protect the investment of the stockholders unless the court appoints a receiver.

The complaint then alleges that on or about the 16th day of July, 1945, a deed to the above described property was made, executed, delivered and recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Salt Lake County, purporting to convey the property from the defendant corporation to the defendant, William L. Hansen, for a purported consideration of \$10,000.00; that the deed was not authorized or executed by the corporation pursuant to resolution of the board of directors and without authority of the board of directors or the stockholders or any authority of the company or its officers or stockholders to the president of the corporation or any other officer to sell or dispose of the property, and that

the property is all of the assets of the corporation; that the consideration was grossly inadequate; that the property was worth in excess of \$200,000.00, and that the consideration of \$10,000.00 was not fully paid by the defendant, William L. Hansen, and the corporation never did receive the money therefor. These allegations are upon information and belief. Continuing, the complaint alleges that the defendant, Nephi Hansen, is in practical control of the corporation and dominates its affairs, and that an appeal to the corporation to protect the stockholders would be futile and useless. The complaint then asks for the appointment of a receiver; that the court enter a decree adjudging the defendant corporation to be the owner of the aforesaid property clear of any claims of defendant, William L. Hansen; that defendants, Nephi Hansen and William Hansen, be required to render an accounting in favor of the corporation, and for general relief.

Clyde Hansen was joined as a plaintiff without his authority and approval and his name was stricken as a plaintiff April 21, 1947, (T. 22), when the demurrers to the complaint came on for hearing.

An amended complaint was filed August 14, 1947, (T. 26-32), at which time more than two years after the deed was given, the court permitted to be added as plaintiffs W. V. Jensen, Mrs. J. E. Jensen, Ralph Cutler, Hettie May Bates and Robert Young, (T. 23). The amended complaint alleged essentially the same matters as the original complaint and also that Nephi J. Hansen

controlled the corporation, failed to call stockholders' meetings, prevented the holding of stockholders' and directors' meetings, and that year after year he represented to the stockholders that there were no items of business except the liquidation of the mortgage indebtedness, "and that by his said representations said defendant discouraged inquiry into the affairs of the corporation and lulled the stockholders into inaction"; that Nephi Hansen since 1928 has presumed to make all the decisions and do all of the corporate acts; that he has not kept any records, and that since 1928 he has treated the corporation as his individual property, that in 1919 the articles of incorporation required the establishment of a sinking fund, but that no such fund has ever been established for the retirement of preferred stock, and that no dividends have ever been paid since shortly after 1919; that during all of said years Nephi Hansen has failed to consult any other directors or hold directors' meetings or "to permit vacancies to be filled on the board of directors"; that Nephi Hansen had repeatedly told the preferred stockholders that dividends could not be paid, and that he was liquidating the real properties of the corporation, and that he has failed and neglected during all the years to furnish the stockholders with any information; that two years prior to the commencement of this action Nephi Hansen informed the plaintiff, Lewis F. Hansen, that it would be wise to sell the property, and that he sold the property to defendant, William L. Hansen, for \$10,000.00 by deed in the name of the corporation, and that that was an at-

tempted disposition of all of the assets of the corporation, and that during the period Nephi Hansen advised the stockholders that a sale was being negotiated. The amended complaint asked for the same relief as the original complaint.

The complaint and amended complaint with Clyde Hansen eliminated, thus in substance allege: 1. That plaintiffs are stockholders of the defendant, Granite Holding Company, and that plaintiff, Lewis F. Hansen, since 1919 has been and at the time of the transaction complained of was a director; that no dividends have been paid for a period of more than twenty years; that during all that time Nephi Hansen has operated the corporation as his own property, given the stockholders no information, liquidated its properties without their consent and approval, and advised the stockholders that he was doing so, held no directors' meetings and conducted the business of the Granite Holding Company as he personally saw fit. 2. That on or about July 16, 1945, he gave a deed in the name of the Granite Holding Company to defendant, William L. Hansen, his son, for a recited consideration of \$10,000.00 for the property in question at 11th East and 21st South, the last remaining asset of the corporation. Based upon such allegations the plaintiff asked that the deed be set aside and the property declared to be that of the Granite Holding Company, and that the defendants Hansen account to the Granite Holding Company. There is no offer or tender on the part of the plaintiffs to do equity or to return

any consideration received by the corporation to William L. Hansen.

Defendants demurred to both complaints, particularly on the ground that the complaints show upon their face that all the plaintiffs are estopped to secure the relief prayed for; that there is no offer or tender to do equity; that the plaintiffs have acquiesced in the acts of Nephi J. Hansen for upwards of twenty-five years, and that the complaints themselves do not show or allege that \$10,000.00 was the actual consideration because the complaints show that there was a mortgage upon the property and do not recite the amount of the mortgage. The defendant, William L. Hansen, also at the beginning of the trial objected to the plaintiffs proceeding at all upon the grounds that the action actually is one by the corporation to rescind its deed, and the complaint shows upon its face that the corporation received \$10,000.00 in addition to an assumption of its mortgage by William L. Hansen, and is making no offer or tender to return what it received, (T. 142, 143), and that the complaint affirmatively sets forth allegations which show an estoppel against the corporation and the stockholders so far as William L. Hansen is concerned. This defendant also asked for a non-suit at the close of plaintiffs' case, (T. 359).

At the beginning of the case the court asked counsel for the plaintiffs if they were in a position to make a tender.

“MR. JENSEN: Well, I am not in a position to answer that question right now.

“THE COURT: If you are not in position to do it, there wouldn't be any need of taking a lot of other evidence and finally come around to the situation where you would have to make your tender in order to get this thing set aside.

* * * *

“MR. JONES: In view of the statement that counsel just made to Your Honor, I renew the motion I made.

“THE COURT: Well, I'll take care of that later. I have ruled on that motion heretofore at this stage, and you may proceed, Mr. Jensen.” (T. 151, 152).

During this same episode efforts were made to get Mr. Jensen to admit or deny that he was the attorney for the plaintiff, Mr. Cutler, which question he evaded by refusing to answer directly as to Mr. Cutler and replied: “I represent all the plaintiffs”, (T. 151, 152).

The answers and amended answers deny that the plaintiffs, W. V. Jensen and Mrs. J. E. Jensen, are stockholders, assert that the Granite Holding Company is improperly joined as a defendant; that full consideration was paid by William L. Hansen for the property; that the stockholders of defendant corporation for years acquiesced in the management of the corporation by Nephi Hansen, and they are estopped to assert any lack of authority, and that they held out to the public generally and to this defendant that they were not concerned or

interested in the corporation or in its business or affairs, and that Nephi Hansen had absolute authority to act on behalf of the corporation including the right to sell and mortgage its real property; that the defendant corporation represented to defendant William L. Hansen that there was a regularly constituted de jure board of directors properly selected and qualified, and that they unanimously adopted a resolution authorizing the sale to the defendant of the property, and that the property was sold to the defendant, William L. Hansen, for \$10,000.00 cash and the assumption of a \$75,000.00 mortgage; that the Granite Holding Company still retains the money and has made no tender of it to the defendant, nor have the plaintiffs; that the property was in a dilapidated and run down condition, and that defendant has put in approximately \$20,000.00 additional of his own money, and that it will be necessary to expend another \$100,000.00 in order to make the property self-supporting, (T. 54, et. seq.). The defendant, Granite Holding Company, and Nephi J. Hansen also set up that the plaintiff, Lewis F. Hansen, was one of the directors who consummated the transaction; that W. V. Jensen and Mrs. J. E. Jensen, plaintiffs, have only a representative interest through J. E. Jensen, a director, who participated in the transaction and voted affirmatively for the delivery of the deed; that the transaction was regular, and that the plaintiffs are estopped to question the deed.

The amended complaint was signed with the name of LeGrand Backman as one of the attorneys for the

plaintiffs, (T. 32). LeGrand Backman never was an attorney for plaintiffs, (T. 147, 148), and before the case came on for trial Lewis Hansen withdrew as a plaintiff and Benjamin Spence withdrew as his attorney, and E. C. Jensen was entered as counsel for the plaintiffs, (T. 74, 75, 76). Prior to the trial defendants, Granite Holding Company, and Nephi J. Hansen, served notice that they would ask to amend their answers so as to deny that the plaintiffs as then constituted were stockholders in the Granite Holding Company, (T. 78). During the trial (June 22, 1948, three years after the deed) it appeared that the plaintiff, Robert Young, had been dead for years before the filing of the complaint, and that William S. Young is the distributee of the stock of Robert Young, (T. 274), and the complaint was thereupon amended during the trial to show William S. Young as a party plaintiff instead of Robert Young, (T. 280). Later on December 16, 1948, and after the trial was ended J. R. Jensen and W. V. Jensen moved for an order dismissing them as plaintiffs in the action, (T. 102), and on the same day these persons were dismissed as plaintiffs, (T. 101). The heading of the motion reciting the names of the plaintiffs states Mrs. J. R. Jensen, whereas all the other pleadings refer to her as Mrs. J. E. Jensen which is correct. While the motion itself and the order of dismissal refer to some person named J. R. Jensen, there never was any one in the case named J. R. Jensen. Apparently, counsel at that late date did not know who his

clients were, and as a matter of fact during the trial the following occurred:

“MR. JENSEN, (counsel for plaintiffs): Your honor, I notice that the complaint, or the amended complaint, rather, which I didn’t draw, for the record, shows Robert Young as a plaintiff. Of course, Robert Young is dead, and I don’t think that is proper plaintiff. Dead man can’t sue.

“THE COURT: Which one of these men hired you.

“MR. JONES: These plaintiffs are like the weather.

“MR. JENSEN: I refuse to answer.” (R. 279).

So of the two original plaintiffs who started the action one was joined without his authority and withdrew immediately, while the other was a director who affirmatively approved the deed in question. The later plaintiffs, two of them, W. V. Jensen and Mrs. J. E. Jensen, were not stockholders at all and one was the son and the other the wife of the director J. E. Jensen who voted for the deed in question. These two were apparently later dismissed as plaintiffs, while the plaintiff, Robert Young, was dead and never did join as a plaintiff, and his son, William S. Young, was substituted during the trial. The plaintiffs were in a constant state of flux, joining and then withdrawing, some with no capacity whatever, others affirmative participants in the conveyance of the property sought by such participants to be voided on the ground of alleged fraud which they

themselves had perpetrated. When the action was finished, none of the original plaintiffs remained, neither of the attorneys who signed the complaint were in the case, those who started the action had disappeared, and it was carried on by others who entered the picture nearly three years after the deed had been given and the property transferred, (T. 74). Plaintiffs never did bring the case on for trial. All they did was file a harassing action and let it rest there. The case was brought on for trial only upon motion and demand of the defendant, Granite Holding Company, (T. 52). It may be that plaintiffs were unable to determine who they were or who was their attorney, they were in and out and shifting around so frequently.

II. THE TESTIMONY

PLAINTIFF'S WITNESSES

(A) *The Validity of the Deed*

The plaintiffs offered in evidence the Clerk's file of the original articles and the various amendments and oaths of office of the defendant, Granite Holding Company, (Exhibit "A", T. 144). These articles show that originally the company was called the Granite Lumber Company at the time of its incorporation in 1901; that the name was changed to Granite Holding Company in 1927. Originally the corporation had 200 shares of the par value of \$100.00 each. Nephi J. Hansen, the defendant herein, and Joseph E. Jensen, one of the directors

who authorized the deed to the defendant, W. L. Hansen, were two of the five original incorporators in 1901 and apparently continued as directors during the entire period under consideration up to 1945. The articles were amended in 1919 to provide for 3500 shares of common stock and 3500 shares of preferred stock. Nephi J. Hansen was then president of the company. In 1927 the articles were amended, as above indicated, to change the name to Granite Holding Company, and at that time under the required "Statement of Domestic Corporation" the corporation represented that Nephi J. Hansen was the president and general manager, Joseph E. Jensen, the vice-president, and Clyde Hansen the treasurer, and that at that time all of the common stock, to-wit, 3500 shares and 740 shares of the preferred stock were subscribed and apparently issued. Only in the event dividends on the preferred stock were not paid for three consecutive years did the preferred stock have any voting power and then only one vote for each share of stock. In 1932 the State of Utah forfeited the charter of the corporation for non-payment of license taxes.

From the beginning the articles have provided by article 9 that there shall be a general manager appointed by the board of directors to hold his position at the pleasure of the board, and by article 12 that the board of directors in their discretion "and without notice to or authority from the stockholders" shall have power "to sell, mortgage, exchange, assign or dispose of, in any way or manner they may deem best, any or all the real and personal property of the corporation." Article 11

has always provided that the board of directors are authorized to fill all vacancies in the board of directors occurring from any cause whatever, and that any director including the persons so appointed shall serve until the next annual election and until his successor is elected and qualified.

The plaintiffs produced ten witnesses, six of whom were stockholders—Hettie May Bates, Clyde F. Hansen, Mary Hansen Southwick, William S. Young, Ralph Cutler and Lewis F. Hansen. Keith Bates, a son of Hettie May Bates, also testified, apparently as the representative of his mother.

Mrs. Bates testified that she is the owner of 50 shares of the preferred stock, issued to her in 1921, (Exhibit "B", T. 149), and that she is the widow of Ephraim Bates, who was the owner of 55 shares of preferred stock, (Exhibit "C", T. 150). There is no way of determining whether or not she is the owner of the 55 shares, Exhibit "C", except her conclusion and no way of determining when the endorsement on the back of the shares was made. We objected to the introduction of Exhibit "C", and it was received over our objection, (T. 153). It should not be considered.

Mrs. Bates testified that she had never received any reports or information at all about the condition or affairs of the company at any time since she has been a stockholder; that she never had notice of meetings, and that she never knew anything about any sale or proposed sale of the property at 21st South and Hyland

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