1949

Lewis F. Hansen, W. V. Jensen, Mrs. J. E. Jensen,  
Ralph Cutler, Hettie May Bates and Robert Young  
v. Granite Holding Company, Nephi J. Hansen and  
William L. Hansen : Brief of Defendant and  
Appellant, William L. Hansen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

or records and did not know much about them. To say this corporation was in such a bad shape that a sale had to be consummated in order to protect the interest of the stockholders, particularly when the sale resulted in the stockholders absolutely getting nothing, under the facts and circumstances shown in this case, is to deny common sense. There is not one bit of evidence that the mortgage holder was about to foreclose and, even if it had foreclosed, the stockholders could suffer no greater loss than they did by reason of the sale that was attempted to be consummated. This corporation had no other property and any deficiency which might have been rendered certainly would not have affected the stockholders, and under the evidence a foreclosure sale probably would have been had for more than the mortgage. On a foreclosure sale the company might lose everything, even granting that its financial condition was in the worst of shape, and by this sale the corporation gained absolutely nothing.

Add to all the foregoing that the price paid did not amount of \$10,000.00 but only in round numbers \$8700.00. The court after having heard the evidence found the fair and reasonable value to be \$100,000.00 at the time of the sale. As previously stated, an exceptionally well qualified witness testified it was reasonably worth \$115,000.00. Add the fact that a so-called board of directors on the face of written minutes authorized a sale without putting in the name of the purchaser

when the name was already known and when in fact the deed had already been executed. Add Nephi J. Hansen's reluctance, nay, studied refusal to inform any stockholder about the sale long after it had been consummated. Add the uncontradicted fact as shown by this record that the entire amount received went into the personal pocket of the president of this corporation, a portion on a claim for back salary about which there is not the slightest proof, and a portion by endorsement of a check which was finally deposited to his personal company. Add the fact that William L. Hansen, despite his protestations, saw a copy of the resolution by which the board gave \$5,000.00 to his father, and yet six months later he turned over an additional \$3800.00 to his father, well knowing that his father had pocketed the previous \$5,000.00, and a mere cursory examination of the last check a few days later would reveal that his father had pocketed the final payment. Add the fact that after William L. Hansen got hold of this property rents of \$90,000.00 were collected in the next thirty-five months by William Hansen. This is an average of in excess of \$2570.00 a month or nearly \$31,000.00 a year. The result makes it impossible to say this property was disposed of by the officers of this corporation fairly, openly, in good faith, and for the best interests of the stockholders of this corporation and in a manner free from fraud and over-reaching as against the stockholders.

We quote from the language of this court in *Noble*

*Mercantile Company v. Mt. Pleasant E. Co-op Inst.*, 42 Pacific 869, 12 Utah 213:

“They are chosen by the stockholders, and are entrusted with the exclusive control of the property and the management of the corporate business. This creates a fiduciary relation between them and the stockholders, and the corporate property becomes impressed with a trust, which must be administered for the exclusive benefit of the stockholders while the corporation is solvent, and for the benefit of the creditors when it becomes insolvent, and ceases to longer pursue the objects of its creation.”

We also quote from two other Utah cases, *Victor Mining Company v. National Bank, et al*, 15 Utah 391, 49 Pacific 826:

“The law will not permit an officer of a corporation to act for the company and for himself in making any contract between them, or in any transaction to the subject matter of which they may have, or may thereby acquire, conflicting interests. In such case the agreement or assent of the officer will not bind the company. Officers of corporations are bound to exercise their official powers in the utmost good faith for the benefit of their principals, in making or consenting to any transaction, and the law will not allow them, as to the same transaction, to act for their own benefit. The agent cannot act for himself and his principal as to anything with respect to which their interests may vary. The reason is

that self-interest may prevent him from the performance of the duties he owes his principal."

*McIntyre v. The Ajax Mining Co. et al*, 17 Utah 213, 53 Pacific 1124:

"This is a controversy over the affairs of a corporation, in which the acts of the directors are involved, and the rights of the stockholders are to be determined. In such case the acts of directors, because of the fiduciary relations existing between the officers and stockholders, will be closely scrutinized in equity, and the directors held to a strict measure of care, duty, fidelity, and disability. Honest and faithful administration of corporate affairs, and fidelity of the trustee to the cestuis que trustent, are what the law aims at; and directors of a corporation will not be permitted to gain a pecuniary advantage over the stockholders because of their official positions, and consequent superior knowledge of the affairs of the company. 'That a director of a joint stock corporation occupies one of those fiduciary relations where his dealings with the subject matter of his trust or agency, and with the beneficiary or party whose interest is confided to his care, is viewed with jealousy by the courts, and may be set aside on slight grounds, is a doctrine founded on the soundest morality, and which has received the clearest recognition in this court and in others.' *Oil Co. v. Marbury*, 91 U. S. 587; *Peabody v. Flint*, 6 Allen 52; *People v. Township Board of Overysse*, 11 Mich. 222."

*In Ryan v. Old Veteran Mining Company, et al*,

(Idaho 1923), 218 Pacific 381, the Supreme Court of Idaho had this to say:

“Directors of corporations act in a fiduciary capacity. They hold the corporate property in trust, and any attempt on their part to divest the use of such property to their personal profit or interest, is a violation of the trust imposed by virtue of the office.”

Fairness and good faith are essential on the part of those acting under statutory authority in the sale of all of the corporate assets over the protest of minority stockholders. *Ervin v. Oregon R. & Nav. Co.*, 27 Federal 625:

“The right of the specified majority to sell all the assets is absolute in so far as the fact of sale, and whether one should be made, is concerned. Upon the question of terms and conditions, however, the expediency thereof and whether they are for the best interests of the corporation must be honestly and in good faith considered. While it is the right of the majority to practically desert the corporate venture by selling out its assets, and thereby, in the case of a highly profitable concern, deprive their associates of the opportunity to reap gains in the future by continuing in business, yet this right cannot be exercised except upon terms and conditions that are fair to the corporation. The price to be paid, the manner of payment, the terms of credit, if any, and such like questions, must all

meet the test of the corporation's best interest."

*Allied Chemical & Dye Corp. v. Steel & Tube Co.*,  
(Delaware) 120 Atlantic 486.

The question of price, where a minority stockholder is objecting to a sale of the corporate assets, is not purely a business matter, but the court must, in order to determine good faith, consider the fairness of the price paid.

Re *American Telegraph & Cable Co.*, 248 N. Y. Supp. 98.

This court, in *Beggs v. Myton Canal & Irrigation Co.*, 179 Pacific 984, 54 Utah 120, had before it a contract made by a corporation for the disposal of all its assets. The court says:

"In the case at bar neither bad faith nor deceit were proved by the plaintiffs. The evidence affirmatively shows good faith and honesty and probably good judgment by the directors of the company in making the Taylor contract, as also by the majority of the stockholders in ratifying the same. Apparently there was nothing for them to do save to dispose of the company's canal and ditch rights to the best possible advantage. The company was devoid of funds; its treasury stock was unsalable; unless it could convince state and federal officials that it had the financial ability

to proceed with its project, it could obtain no extension of time in which to continue and complete its plans and work. It could not furnish the required proof of financial strength; to save its water filings and other rights it was necessary to obtain financial assistance; the loss of the entire property was imminent; the proposed contract with Taylor offered hope and promise of saving a substantial sum to the stockholders. Under these circumstances it was not only within the power of the directors and the majority stockholders, but it was their duty, to take some action which in their judgment would avoid the threatened loss and wreckage."

Compare the present case with *Beggs v. Myton Canal & Irrigation Co.* Was the Granite Holding Company about to lose all that it had? Did the proposed sale offer hope and promise of saving anything for the stockholders? In the *Beggs* case by reason of the contract of sale the stockholders had an opportunity to get water through canals to be made available by the purchaser. In the *Beggs* case by making the contract valuable water filings theretofore made could be proved up, title obtained and the water made available to its stockholders. Was any like situation present here by reason of the proposed sale to William Hansen? Was the corporation in such a state that should the sale not be consummated the stockholders would be in a worse position than they would have been were the contract fully consummated? By the making of the contract and the transfer of the title the stockholders here lost

everything of any value they had. As already pointed out, foreclosure did not mean anything to these stockholders. For whose benefit was this contract made? As pointed out in the Beggs case, was it made for the *best possible advantage* of the company or was it made for the best possible advantage of Nephi J. Hansen, his family, and particularly his son William L. Hansen.

Appellant in its brief makes short reference to *Beggs v. Myton Canal & Irrigation Co.* From appellant's reference to this case one would think that the Beggs case involved rights of creditors. As a matter of fact, in the Beggs case the plaintiff was a minority stockholder and the rights of creditors were not involved at all. Aside from this proposition it is inconceivable to us that creditors would have any greater right in the corporate property than stockholders. If the corporation cannot dispose of its property so as to result in a fraud on creditors, it seems to us that it cannot dispose of its property so it will result in a fraud upon the stockholders. We recognize of course in the case of an insolvent corporation creditors must first be paid before stockholders participate in any of the remaining assets, but that is a question of priority and not a question of selling corporate property in a fraudulent fashion so as to cheat either creditors or stockholders.

There are many cases that any transaction by a corporate officer with the corporation by which he se-



cures corporate property are presumptively fraudulent and even though the price, terms of sale and everything else is fair, they are subject to cancellation at the request of the corporation.

There are many cases that transfers of corporate property to a wife of a corporate officer are in the same category, and in view of the family set-up here and this entire transaction there existed here as close a cohesion between these sons and daughters and this father as ordinarily exists between husband and wife, and under the circumstances we can see no good reason why in this case this court should not view the question here presented in the same fashion. But even the adoption of such a rule is not necessary for this court to affirm this judgment. Ample evidence is here present to sustain a finding that there was a fraud perpetrated by father, son and family upon this corporation and consequently upon the stockholders.

Appellant has much to say about the matter of price. Let there be no misunderstanding, we freely confess that some inadequacy of price is alone not enough to avoid a sale. To paraphrase some of the cases, inadequacy of price is not fraud, but certainly it is evidence of fraud. We do not rely upon the inadequacy of this price alone and we venture to say that had that been the only proof this appeal would not be taken. But coupled with all the other facts and circumstances in

this case, what is the answer? Was the contract openly and fairly arrived at? Did the officers of this corporation act for the best interest of the corporation and the stockholders? Did they perform the duties laid upon them by the law? Did William L. Hansen in dealing with the officers and agents of this corporation act frankly, openly and in good faith, or did he assist, advise and connive with his father and his brothers and sisters to fraudulently obtain corporate property in violation of all the ordinary concepts of decency and fair dealing?

With respect to William L. Hansen's participation, we present the following cases:

*Old Mortgage & Finance Company v. Pasadena Land Company*, 216 N.W. 925, Michigan 1928:

“ ‘If a third person joined with a corporate officer in dealing with the corporation, with knowledge that he is such officer, the contract may be set aside as to him as well as the corporate officer. This is upon the theory that, where a stranger participates with the officer of a corporation in the commission of an act of manifest bad faith or breach of duty to it, he, equally, with the officer, commits a wrong, and ought not to derive profit from it.’ ”

We quote from *Cohall v. Lofland*, (Delaware 1921), 114 Atlantic 224 at 237:

“One who participates with a trustee in the breach of trust may be held liable in a court of equity. If he still holds the trust property or its proceeds, he may be held as constructive trustee thereof; if he no longer holds the trust property, or its proceeds, he may be held liable in equity to account for the advantage derived.”

*Fletcher, Corporations*, Revised 1943, Vol. 13, page 189 states:

“Even if circumstances are such as to warrant a transfer of all assets or all corporate property by a majority of stockholders or by the board of directors, the transfer may be in fact fraudulent, oppressive or unfair to minority stockholders so as to warrant relief in their favor as representatives of the corporation, on the ground of a breach of trust, regardless of whether the property is transferred to the majority stockholders or managing officers themselves, \* \* \* *or to a third person*. And the breach of trust may consist in gains or advantages secured by the majority at the expense of the minority, or the exclusion of the minority from a fair participation in the fruits of the sale, or the grossly inadequate price paid for the property. (Italics ours.)

“In selling all of the assets, majority stockholders must exercise the highest degree of good faith toward minority stockholders. *Nave-McCord Mercantile Co. vs. Ranney*, 29 Fed. 2nd 383; *Hayden v. Official Hotel Red Book and Directory Co.*, 42 Fed. 875; *Cardiff v. Johnson*, 126 Wash. 454, 218 Pac. 269.”

The appellant argues that these plaintiffs have no right of action against William L. Hansen to set aside the deed. Let it be remembered this is a secondary or derivative action for the benefit of themselves and others similarly situated.

The appellant also argues that the majority of the stockholders could meet and satisfy this transaction and thus prevent the recapture of the property in an action of this sort. In his amended answer the appellant pleads such a meeting, but no proof was offered to support it and it was abandoned, probably because appellant himself had no faith in the claim. It seems foolish to make any reply to such an argument. The above citations answer it. But to put it more plainly, how can the many defraud the few any more effectively than a few defraud the many? Can four partners defraud their three associates when three cannot defraud the four? If the answer is in the affirmative, then a large corporation could defraud an individual when in a like case the individual would have to make restitution to the corporation. It seems to us the answers are so patent to require no further comment.

## **5. The Accounting.**

### **(a) William L. Hansen is a Constructive Trustee.**

“Where the owner of property transfers it, being induced by fraud, duress or undue influence of the transferee, the transferee holds the

property upon a constructive trust for the transferor.”

*Restatement of the Law, Restitution, Section 166.*

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